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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a high investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may

be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “year”).

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services in the market. ITE
has been pioneering and has achieved outstanding performance in the
areas of smartcard, radio frequency identification (“RFID") solutions and
integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong
Kong” or “"HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region (“Macao”)
and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") since our establishment.
With profound expertise, strong research and development (“R&D")
capability, proven track record and excellent reputation, the group has
established a leading profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive
approach to develop and introduce innovative products and customized
multi-applications solutions to our clients. Heading for the future, ITE
endeavours to develop and deploy smart city solutions and applications
building on innovation, technology and excellence so as to meet the needs
of smart cities and contribute to public health and well-being as well as
sustainability.

Appreciation
I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 June 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 61, is an Executive Director and
one of the founders of the group. He is responsible for overall strategic
planning and management of the group. With over 38 years of experience
in the executive management, he was engaged in China trade before
founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The University of Hong Kong
with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor of Science in Mechanical
Engineering. He holds a number of invention patents and has led many
research and development projects under the funding schemes of the
Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong Government.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 62, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 41 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 56, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of Science
degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an associate
member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales ("ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent.

Miss Ng Yuen Ying, aged 35, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Journalism
and Communication from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She
has worked in the media and communication sector with over 7 years of
experience in in-depth news reporting. She joined the Company in 2020
as a manager responsible for external and internal communications and
environmental, social and governance (ESG) activities and resigned in
2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSHERERER

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 59, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant
qualified in Mainland and Hong Kong China and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam has over 36
years' experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private
and public companies.

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung, aged 65, holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Arts
(Honours) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Social Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. He has been
working in the information technology sector with over twenty years’
experience in the telecom and communications industry. He is the
chairman of the Asia Data Center Alliance and at the same time serving
the Hong Kong community as a District Councillor for more than two
decades.

Mr. Yeung Kin Hing, aged 65, holds a Honours Diploma in
communications from The Hong Kong Baptist College (now University)
and a Master of Arts in International Relations from the Australian National
University. He formerly worked with the South China Morning Post from
1984 to 2009, the Hong Kong Economic Journal from 2009 to 2014
and the CitizenNews from 2016 to 2022. He had worked as a part-time
lecturer at the Hong Kong Shue Yan University between 2016 and 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

Throughout the year, our group remained committed to delivering quality
products and professional services to our valued customers.

Nevertheless, the recent trade and tariff conflict between the United States
and China is expected to inflict further damage on the economies of
China and Hong Kong. This development might disrupt and fundamentally
reshape the global trade landscape, posing risks and long-term
challenges to Hong Kong's economic recovery. Given the uncertainties
and unfavourable external environment, we adopt a more stringent and
cautious stance when evaluating our future outlook.

Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which best explain ITE.

All members performed professionally under the corporate vision,
mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual assets are created,
accumulated and protected, and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
world. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to provide

innovative solutions to our clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R o S AT

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses associated
with its business operations. The group maintains insurance policies against
loss or damage to its office and business interruption, public liability and
employees’ compensation. The insurance coverage may be insufficient to
cover all the risks associated with the group’s business and operations in
the future. In the case of an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured
limit, including those caused by natural disasters and other events beyond
the group’s control, the group may be required to pay for losses, damages
and liabilities out of its own funds, which could materially and adversely
affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if the
insurance coverage is adequate to cover its direct losses, the group may
need to be responsible for the indirect losses. Furthermore, claim records
of the group may affect the premiums which insurance companies charge
in the future.

Despite of the above, the group considers that the current insurance
coverage is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the group will
review its insurance policies from time to time.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$13 million, which was approximately the similar as last
year. Profits for the year attributable to owners of the company for the
year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$2 million as compared
to that of approximately HK$2 million for last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded less than 1% decrease in revenue
when compared with last year and the group’s gross profit margin
improved from 64% to 70%.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services and
related sales, was HK$3,297,845 (2024: HK$3,612,016) which decreased
by 9%. However, the income from maintenance services increased by 3%
to HK$9,409,587 (2024: HK$9,114,762).

The group’s administrative expenses increased slightly by 2% to
HK$7,757,695 (2024: HK$7,618,180). Included in administrative expenses,
the research and development cost and associated sponsorship was
decreased by 38% to HK$758,425 (2024: HK$1,215,032). Expenditure on
research and development activities was totally expensed in profit or loss
during the year.

During the year, the group’s finance cost was HK$19,796 (2024:
HK$55,103) which related to finance charges on lease liabilities.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2025, the current ratio and liquidity ratio of the
group were 5.16 (2024: 5.83). The overall financial and liquidity positions
of the group remained at a stable and healthy level.

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also
reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R o S AT

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2025, the group did not have any charges on group assets
(2024 nil).

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was nil (2024: nil).

Capital Structure

The capital of the company only comprises ordinary shares and there is no
change in the capital structure of the group during the year.

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference to
individual performance and the group’s business performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong
including contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Besides,
the group also provides on-going training programmes for its employees
to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

At 31 March 2025, the group had 20 (2024: 24) full-time employees
and 19 of them are based in Hong Kong. Staff costs, including directors’
remuneration, was approximately HK$8 million (2024: HK$8 million) for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), British Pound (“GBP")
and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$, GBP and
RMB have been steady for the past few years. During the year, the group
generally used the receipts from customers to pay its suppliers and meet
its capital requirements. They are denominated in the local currency of
the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The group does not currently
engage in hedging to manage possible exchange rate risk as the group
considers the cost associated with such hedging arrangements would
exceed the benefits. However, management will continue to monitor the
possible exposure to exchange rate risk and will take such measures as it
deems prudent.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions
and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and
Joint Ventures, and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Additions of Capital Assets

The group did not have any significant investments, material acquisitions,
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year,
nor there were any future plans for material investments or additions of
capital assets as at 31 March 2025.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liability

As at 31 March 2025, the group did not have any material capital
commitments and contingent liability (2024: nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility
and fairness. The board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices
exist to protect the interests of the shareholders of the company (the
“shareholders”).

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code")
contained in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, save for the
deviations discussed below.

The board is responsible for performing the functions and duties set out
in code provision A.2.1 of the Code. The terms of reference of the board
include developing and reviewing the company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management; reviewing and monitoring the
company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and
reviewing the company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

Under the code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set

out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group, there
is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as Mr. Lau
is capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles in which he has been
acting. However, the board will continue to review the effectiveness of the
group’s corporate governance structure to assess whether the separation
of the positions of chairman and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report

Under the code provision B.2.2 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision B.2.2 of the
Code.

The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate governance through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard
of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of conduct and
the required standard of dealings and there was no non-compliance with
the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March
2025.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The board, which currently comprises four executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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The board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the company’s business,
and should ensure that the directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the company that are commensurate with their role and
board responsibilities. It should ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. It should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement. Non-executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and
number for their views to carry weight.

Mechanisms, including regular meetings and various communication and
engagement channels, have been established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the board. The board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should make a positive contribution to the development of the company’s
strategy and policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments. The functions of non-executive directors should include
participating in board meetings to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct; taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interests arise; serving on the audit, remuneration,
nomination and other governance committees, if invited; and scrutinising
the group’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.

The independent non-executive director, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
has been serving the board as independent non-executive director for
more than nine years and has consistently demonstrated his willingness
to exercise independent judgments and provide objective challenges to
management. His further appointment(s) has been subject to a separate
resolution, in which his background, experience, qualification, general
market conditions and the company’s articles of association have been
reviewed. The nomination committee considered that he has actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held during
the year and has shown himself able to give constructive and independent
advice to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the nomination
committee considered that he remains independent and should be
re-elected, notwithstanding the length of his tenure as independent non-
executive director.
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All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve
a sustainable and balanced development of the group. In designing the
board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from various
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All appointments to the board will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. This diversity
policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the company,
and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the
board.

With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

The company believes the balance of gender in the board would bring
more inspiration to the board and enhance the business development of
the group, thus gender diversity is the essential factor for the company to
select suitable candidate as a director. The board will take opportunity to
increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates for board appointments.
The board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices.

As at the date of this report, the board comprises seven directors, including
six men and one woman. The company values gender diversity, and the
board had set a target to appoint at least one director of a different
gender no later than 31 December 2024. This target has already been
achieved with the appointment of a female director. The board remains
committed to promoting gender representation within its composition.
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During the year, the company maintained an overall male-to-female
workforce ratio of 15:8, while the ratio within the group’s male-to-female
senior management stood at 6:1. The lower representation of female
employees is primarily attributed to the nature of the industry and the
group’s business operations. To achieve diversity at workforce level, the
group has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection practices
such that a diverse range of candidates are considered. During the year
under review, the board was not aware of any mitigating factors or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce

(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.
Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
Subsequently, he/she shall receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operation of the group and that he/she is aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under statute and common law, the GEM
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the group’s
business and governance policies.

Miss Ng Yuen Ying was appointed as an executive director with effect
from 1 October 2024. She obtained the legal advice referred to in
Rule 5.02D on 27 September 2024, and she has confirmed she understood
her obligations as a director.

All directors shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The company
shall arrange and fund suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors

will be arranged wherever necessary.
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The following is a summary of the continuous professional development
activities undertaken by the directors.
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Type of training
bz [Ec Bl

Attendance at
conferences,
seminars, or

Reading of other training/
relevant materials self-study activities

SHEH - FHED

Name of directors EEnE RMEMEREER Hitigdl B2EH
Executive directors HITES

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BENFKE v v
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung PRI S v v
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2L E v v
Miss Ng Yuen Ying Ripg s/ MA v v
Independent non-executive directors BAFEHTES

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony eI P v v
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BB EE v v
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing TSR A v v

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been

established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.
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Apart from regular board meetings, the chairman also held meetings/
discussed with independent non-executive directors without the presence
of other directors during the year.

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, conduct evaluation of
its performance, and discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to management. The
arrangements should be reviewed annually to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the company’s needs. Directors should clearly understand
delegation arrangements in place. The company has formal letters of
appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advance to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for each
board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the directors
together with necessary board papers and related materials at least 3
days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any items on the
agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant
information of each board and committee meeting are generally made
available to directors or committee members at least 3 days in advance.

The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Draft and final versions of minutes of board
meetings and the board committees meetings will be sent to all directors
for their comments and records respectively as soon as possible after the
board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
director.

Management is responsible for supplying the board and its committees
with adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make
informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete
and reliable. To fulfil their duties properly, directors may not, in all
circumstances, be able to rely purely on information provided voluntarily
by management and they may need to make further enquiries. Where any
director requires more information than is volunteered by management,
that director should make further enquiries where necessary. The board
and individual directors have separate and independent access to the
company’s senior management.
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Management is responsible for providing sufficient explanation and
information to the board to enable it to make an informed assessment of
financial and other information put before it for approval. Management
should provide all members of the board with periodic updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the group’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the board as a whole
and each director to discharge their duties under rule 5.01 and Chapter
17.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information from the company’s senior management or
obtain independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the company’s expense. The board should resolve to provide separate
independent professional advice to directors to assist them perform
their duties to the company. Board committees, including the audit,
remuneration and nomination committees, should be provided with
sufficient resources to perform their duties. They also have unrestricted
access to the advice and service of the company secretary, who is
responsible for providing directors with board papers and related materials
and ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and
regulations, are followed. Queries raised by directors should receive a
prompt and full response, if possible.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

KB EBRBITIRE
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination

meeting Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors EEpE Exgex ERZEES yHEes REZEEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2EH T E 4/4 N/AZNE A 11 2/2
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BB e A 4/4 N/AZNE N/AZ3E AR N/AZ 3 A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2EERE 4/4 N/ATTjiE R N/ATT i A N/AT i
Miss Ng Yuen Ying (appointed on 5282/ \ME 11 N/AA i N/AA i N/AA i

1 October 2024) (RZZ_m&E+H
—BEET)
Independent non-executive BYFEHTES
directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony eSS 3/4 2/2 11 2/2
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BEFRE 4/4 2/2 11 2/2
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing TR E S A 4/4 22 11 212
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FRRITHAR
The roles and functions of the chairman include providing leadership EFHABLKBEREEESESS  BRESFESZ LM
for the board; ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues BESZHEEANEBEANNEZE @ BRESELFRIFZSH
arising at board meetings; ensuring that directors receive, in a timely — &&fl - MABEAINVELEREWN L THEI S5 BRES
manner, adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete B BUBEE - BETEARE - W ARRAEERE
and reliable; ensuring that the board works effectively and performs its ~ EEHE#ETHH  BETWIESAESTSSRMNHRE

responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by
it in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting; ensuring that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make a full and
active contribution to the board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure
that it acts in the best interests of the company; encouraging directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allowing sufficient time for
discussion of issues and ensure that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus; at least annually holding meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors; ensuring that
appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the board as a
whole; promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between executive and non-executive directors. The
chief executive should be responsible for the day-to-day management of
business.
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The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed
by Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration the nature and extent
of the group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 and code provision D.3.3
and D.3.7 of the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony (being
the chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr.
Yeung Kin Hing.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports (if
any) and to provide advice and comments thereon to the board. The
audit committee meets at least twice a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss the effectiveness of the company’s financial reporting matters,
internal control and also risk management systems. The principal terms of
reference include, inter alia, its relationship with the company’s external
auditor, review of the company’s financial information and oversight
of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the

company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, two audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.

Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Code. The roles and functions of the
remuneration committee include making recommendations to the board
on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management of the company, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-executive
directors, as well as determining the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors, assessing performance of executive directors, and
approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts. Members of
the remuneration committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr.
Wai Hing Cheung, Mr. Yeung Kin Hing and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony as chairman. A majority of the votes in
the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in connection with

his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules to meet at least once a year.
During the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review
the remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of the
nomination committee include the appointment and removal of directors,
assessment of the independence of independent non-executive directors,
reviews of the background, experience, qualification, general market
conditions and the company’s articles of association in selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship. Members of the nomination
committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung,
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing, Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, and Miss Ng Yuen
Ying, with Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the

nomination committee.

During the year, two nomination committee meetings were held.
Issues concerning the structure, size and composition of the board
were discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved
that all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by
the company. The nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted to select and recommend candidates for directorship are guided
by the company’s needs and board diversity policy. Key factors considered
include professional experience, education, skills, gender, and other
relevant attributes. All candidates are assessed based on merit and their
potential contribution to the board. Miss Ng Yuen Ying was appointed as
a member of the nomination committee with effect from 16 June 2025.
Further, Miss Ng Yuen Ying, Mr. Kam Hau Choi Anthony and Mr. Yeung
Kin Hing will retire from the board in accordance with Articles T08A and
112 of the company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.
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The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the external auditor of the company, OOP CPA & Co.,
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67 of
this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the board at its absolute discretion
after taking into account the company’s financial results, future prospects
and other factors, and subject to:

- the articles of association of the company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the company is
bound from time to time;

- the investment and operating requirements of the company; and

- any other factors that have material impacts on the company.
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Corporate Governance Report

Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review
of the group’s risk management and internal control system on an
ongoing basis. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the group
emphasizes the importance of a sound internal control system which is
also indispensable for mitigating the group’s risk exposures. A sound
and effective internal control system is designed for (i) safeguarding the
interests of shareholders; (ii) safeguarding assets of the group against
misappropriation; (i) ensuring proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information; and (iv) ensuring
compliance with the relevant laws, regulations, and internal policies.
Such system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment of the
business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the effectiveness of its risk management and the internal control
systems under code provision D.2.1, report to shareholders that it has
done so in the Corporate Governance Report, and make recommendations
to the board if any significant areas of concern are identified. The review
should cover all material controls, including financial, operational and

compliance controls.

The board reviews the following annually: (a) the changes, since the last
annual review, in the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the company'’s ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment; (b) the scope and quality of management'’s
ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal
control systems; (c) the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s)) which enables it
to assess control of the group and the effectiveness of risk management; (d)
significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified during
the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the
future have, a material impact on the company’s financial performance
or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of the company’s processes for
financial reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.
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During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
and has considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes, and budget of the group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, as well as those relating to the group’s
ESG performance and reporting. The board is satisfied that the present
system of internal control is effective. The group does not have an internal
audit function and does not see the need to have one. The group will
review the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programmes and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk
management and internal control systems were in place and effective.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

The group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the group, including customers and
suppliers, to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the audit
committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the group.
The group has also established a policy that promotes and supports anti-
corruption laws and regulations.

Business Ethics and Professional Code of
Conducts

The group puts high standards on business ethics and professional
conducts expected of all employees. Employees are briefed regularly on
the code of ethics and on the conduct of keeping confidentiality of the
information of business partners and the group. Briefings on the code of
ethics and on the conducts are held for new employees during orientation

Sessions.

The group also adopts good employment standards of non-discrimination
policy and fair compensation scheme.
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Corporate Governance Report

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company'’s affairs. The selection, appointment or dismissal of the company
secretary should be approved by the board. The company secretary reports
to the chairman and directors of the company. The company secretary
also plays an essential role in the relationship between the company and
its shareholders, and assists the board in discharging its obligations to
shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
her skills and knowledge during the year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit services could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee to
believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors affect
their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards.

On 14 November 2024, CWK CPA Limited, the predecessor external
auditor, resigned and the company engaged OOP CPA & Co. as the
external auditor to fill the casual vacancy. The fee in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by OOP CPA & Co. for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to HK$250,000 and HK$20,000 respectively.

The audit committee has expressed its view to the board that the level
of fees paid/payable by the company to the company’s external auditor
for annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the company during the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article 64 of the
articles of association of the company, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
board or the secretary of the company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
articles of association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The chairman of the board attends
the annual general meeting and invites the chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, and nomination committees to attend the meeting and
answer questions. The directors host the annual general meeting each
year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries. The external
auditors attend the annual general meeting to answer questions about
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. The chairman
of the meeting shall ensure that an explanation is provided of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any questions from
shareholders on voting by poll. The company uses various communication
channels, such as publication of annual and quarterly reports, press
announcements and circulars, to update the shareholders on the group’s
business developments and financial performance. Such information is also

available on the company’s website: http://www.hkite.com.

The company reviewed the implementation of the shareholders’
communication policy during the year and concluded it was effective,
based on timely disclosures, accessible information, and active shareholder
engagement.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there was no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

Management Approach and Governance
Structure

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Code as set out in
Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code to
the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Code"). It discloses major policies and management measures for the
environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision of
innovation technology products, solutions and professional services of the
group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and communities. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our open and transparent platform while
we are devoted to continuous improvement of our communication and
engagement channels. We are committed to maintaining a long-term
partnership with our stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing
their concerns with follow-up actions.

Having faith in sustainable business development, the board together
with management of the group evaluate and identify ESG-related risks,
formulate overall ESG and sustainability strategies, set ESG-related goals
and targets for the group, and integrate the strategic planning into
daily business operations. The board regularly reviews the progress and
enhances the ESG and sustainability strategies.

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of this ESG report, we follow the Reporting Principles,
namely materiality, quantitative and consistency as set forth in the
Code. We also endeavour to align this report with the IFRS S1 General
Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information
and IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures, insofar as practicable, taking into
account existing data availability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Materiality

We recognise that the success of our environmental policies and
performance hinges on the support from our stakeholders. Therefore,
we always value our stakeholders’ insights into the group’s ESG and
sustainability strategies, as well as their opinions and feedback on
our existing ESG operating practices. Through continuous industry
benchmarking, communications with our stakeholders and internal
discussions, we identify material ESG factors.

We have established the following communication channels to facilitate
stakeholder engagement. Through stakeholder engagement, we manage
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improvements to our ESG and sustainability strategies. i
Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BiE SHEEE HMEmR
Shareholders - Annual general meetings —  Comply with relevant laws &3 - BREAFAgk - ETHEEEMNR
and other shareholder and regulations HiREe® 0
meetings —  Strengthen governance - FRhHmE - meER
- Annual reports, interim ~ ~  Identify risk factors REEHRE - BAERRZ
reports and quarterly - Make necessary (nA) - {ERVENEER
reports (if any) information disclosure and — R BRGHERE
- Announcements and maintain transparency - #E
circulars
- Website
Employees ~  Regular operational ~ Identify risk factors (== - FHEEREE - #RREZR
and management - Maintain a safe and BB - ERTERENT
communications healthy workplace - BnEHe IR
- Training and briefing ~ —  Promote career - BHREHR - BEREER
sessions development - FEERNEER
- Circulars and emails —  Inherit and pass on our it
core values and spirit
Customers —  Business meetingsand - Effective delivery of B - HBgER - BRREHATR
seminars solutions and professional g NEXRH%
- Letters, facsimiles, emails services - £ #HE T - ABENEEE
and phone conversations —  Maintain information BREFEN - BENRERPH
- Website transparency - %8 i 3
— Customer service hotline —  Respect and protect - EPR#BRE - BUEERRYE
customers' rights and FHAR

interests

Build mutual trust and
establish a long-term
professional relationship

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 3§ 29



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - g MEARSE

Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BRE SHRE HEHR
Suppliers —  Business meetingsand - Identify risk factors R - ABgsEk - #HEREZ
seminars ~ Maintain information e - BEREMBERE
—  Tendering and requests transparency - BERRIWRE - BUGEREEE
for quotation - Build mutual trust and - EF B2 B L2
—  Letters, facsimiles, emails establish a long-term B REFHBA
and phone conversations professional relationship
Communities - Website - Fulfil corporate social M - #E - BOGEHERMF
- Community activities responsibility - #EEE - WERGRE
- Talks and seminars - Promote environmental - EELEE
protection
Quantitative 21t

Information about material ESG factors and key performance indicators
("KPI") are made available in quantitative form in this report, whenever
feasible, pursuant to the Code.

In the presentation of the types of emissions and respective emissions
data, we have been following the vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK,
developed by the Environmental Protection Department (“EPD"”). The
modelling methodology follows that of the California Air Resources
Board’s EMFAC2002 model but with modifications to cater for local
factors.

The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions due to electricity consumption
were calculated based on CLP Power Hong Kong Limited's GHG intensity
of the electricity in 2024.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are adopted to allow meaningful comparisons
of ESG data over time.

We have been calculating air pollutant emissions from vehicles based on

the EPD’s vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK. We adopted the latest
version of EMFAC-HK in this report.
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The GHG intensity of the electricity sold by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
in Hong Kong was 0.38kgCO,e/kWh in 2024, lower than that in 2023.
In this report, we calculated greenhouse gas emissions due to electricity
consumption based on 0.38kgCO,e/kWh (2023: 0.39kgCO,e/kWh).

Reporting Boundary

We covered our environmental and social performance in this ESG report

in accordance with the latest version of the Code. There is no change in

the scope of reporting.

A

Environmental Policy and Resources
Management Measures

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental protection standards to fulfil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during
the operation of the business. Being a provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services, we bear
low impact on carbon emission and the environment. Nevertheless,
the group continues to actively manage our environmental
footprint via implementing environmental protection measures in

the office and workplace.

We were one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies came from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financial, consumer
goods, industrial, utilities, information technology, materials and
telecommunication sectors. We are ready to disclose the carbon
footprint information and share the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through various means. We
have been pioneering the initiative and playing an important role
in transforming Hong Kong into a green and low-carbon economy
since 2014.
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Aspect A1: Emissions

The impacts of climate change touch on every part of our lives and
our business. We and our stakeholders recognise the need to step
up our environmental protection actions and draw up relevant
policies to reduce the emissions and discharges of air pollutants,
greenhouse gases and wastes. We have established various policies
to closely monitor, regularly review and implement measures to
reduce the air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and hazardous and non-hazardous waste arising
from our daily business operations.

We have been complying with all relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impacts on us relating to emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes.

The group’s major sources of air pollutants, greenhouse gases
and wastes include fuel and electricity consumption of our vehicle
fleet, office and staff. Emissions disclosed as KPIs are calculated
based on the consumption data collected and applicable emission
factors.

Air pollutants include NO,, SO,, particulate matter and other
pollutants regulated under laws and regulations of HKSAR.
Greenhouse gases identified in the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and agreed upon
as part of the Kyoto Protocol include carbon dioxide (CO,),
methane (CH,), nitrous oxide (N,0), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs),
perfluorocarbons (PFCs), sulphur hexafluoride (SF,) and nitrogen
trifluoride (NF,).

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no confirmed non-
compliance in relation to air pollutants and greenhouse gases,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.
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Greenhouse gas (“GHG"”) emissions

2025 2024
Tonnes of Tonnes of
COe COe
Scope 1 GHG emissions
Vehicle fleet — gasoline, diesel 0 0
Scope 2 GHG emissions
Electric vehicles — electricity 0 0.32
Office - electricity 15.58 18.47
Scope 3 GHG emissions
(Category 6) Business travel
Aviation travel — aviation fuel 0 0
Total GHG emissions 15.58 18.78
GHG emission intensity
(per employee) 0.68 0.72

IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures defines the three scopes of
greenhouse gas emissions from the perspective of the reporting
entity, adopting the definitions used in the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004):

Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions — Direct greenhouse gas
emissions that occur from sources that are owned or controlled by
an entity.

Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions — Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity,
steam, heating or cooling consumed by an entity. Purchased and
acquired electricity is electricity that is purchased or otherwise
brought into an entity’s boundary. Scope 2 greenhouse gas
emissions physically occur at the facility where electricity is
generated.
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Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions — Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions (not included in Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions) that
occur in the value chain of an entity, including both upstream and
downstream emissions. Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions include
the Scope 3 categories in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate
Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011).

In measuring our GHG emissions, we adopt established
methodologies aligned with local regulatory standards and data
availability. The following outlines our measurement approach, the
rationale behind our selection, and any changes made during the
reporting period:

(i) Measurement approach, inputs, and assumptions
Fuel (Gasoline and Diesel):

Emissions from vehicle fuel consumption are calculated
using the EMFAC-HK model, a vehicle emission model
developed by the EPD. This model reflects EPD’s
understanding of how vehicles travel and how much they
pollute, ensuring consistency with local environmental

standards and traffic conditions.
Electricity:

Emissions from electricity usage are calculated using the

following formula:

GHG emissions (tCO,e) = Electricity consumption (kWh) X
GHG intensity of CLP Power Hong Kong Limited (kg CO,e/
kWh) x 0.001 (t/kg)

This approach reflects the actual carbon intensity of the
electricity supplied to our operating locations in Kowloon,
which are served by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.
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Aviation fuel:

Emissions from aviation travel are calculated using a
distance-based method, applying the following formula:

GHG emissions (tCO,e) = Distance travelled (km) X
Emission factor (g CO,e/pkm) X Number of passenger (p)
% 0.000001 (t/g)

We adopt the 2024 UK Government Greenhouse Gas
Conversion factors for Company Reporting (previously
known as the ‘Guidelines to Defra/DECC’'s GHG
Conversion factors for Company Reporting’) and apply the
total GHG emission factors for air passenger transport as

follows:

(Total GHG)
Air Passenger Mode Emission factor
g CO,e/pkm
Short-haul flights 101.7
Long-haul flights 143.0

Rationale for chosen measurement approach, inputs, and
assumptions

- Alignment with local regulatory frameworks and
government-endorsed models recognised as
appropriate for emissions reporting in Hong Kong.

- Utilisation of the GHG intensity data provided by
our electricity supplier to ensure that our emissions
reporting accurately reflects the GHG emissions
associated with our electricity consumption.

- Emphasis on the accessibility and credibility of data
to support consistent and transparent reporting.

(ii)
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(i)~ Changes during the reporting period and reasons (i)  WEHARMAENEERRA
There were no changes made to our measurement ERRERAN - RPIRBEHAE T EZLR
approach or assumptions during the reporting period. We BAELAEMEE o FAPE AIEMFAC-HK]
continue to rely on EMFAC-HK, CLP's GHG intensity data R REE N AMAREREHRGEE
and distance-based method to calculate emissions from NEBBEERE - DRIt E R B A h kg
gasoline and diesel consumption, electricity consumption, o B RMEREENRZE RS - A
and aviation fuel consumptions respectively to ensure BRFE Z ER PSR A o] b &
comparability and accuracy in year-over-year emissions o
reporting.
KPIA1.1 Emissions from vehicles BIEAEIEIZAL ) TEHY
We were awarded the Contract for Management, Operation and BMVENE B FRTHEKTIER BEREKRLR
Maintenance of the existing Parking Meter System (“CMOM") by HER  SEBREESH - ZEHAR_ZT—NEF
the Government of the HKSAR. The CMOM started on 20 January —AZ+HRBRER YR —_F—A+h
2019 and ended on 19 January 2022. A vehicle fleet consisting of HER HEEFHR-/EHEE - M wa/EE%
three diesel trucks, two diesel vans, four electric vans, one electric BHE  NMAEHEREE  —ABEHARE -
car, one electric motorcycle and four gasoline motorcycles were BENEFLE MM & T hEFEEHAR - M?%EEZ‘/EI
established to fulfil the requirements and needs under the CMOM. BHRERGHEE 2EREESHNERNT
.
Since the completion of CMOM, we have been streamlining the f‘iﬁ%m NER - BAELRBHEHRE - #E
fleet. As of 31 March 2024, the original fleet has been completely T _WNF=A=+—8 - Eﬁﬁ%ﬂi%ﬁ(ﬁﬁ%&( 0
disbanded. Consequently, there was no diesel, gasoline, or I&t NEFLERERMEESE - RHNE
electricity consumption by the fleet during the year. TIREFE ©
Types of emissions 2025 2024 HER KR —E-RF ZEBZNEF
Kg Kg Fr F=
NOx 0 0 AAty 0 0
SO« 0 0 maty 0 0
Particulate Matter (“PM") 0 0 R 0 0
Hydrocarbons (“HC") 0 0 kafbam 0 0
Carbon Monoxide (“CO") 0 0 —&bHk 0 0
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KPI A1.3 Hazardous wastes

Hazardous wastes are those defined by regulations of HKSAR.
Hazardous wastes are required to be separated and recorded
for collection. During the year, the group did not produce any
hazardous wastes in the course of business.

KPI A1.4 Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the group did not produce nor dispose of any
non-hazardous wastes (2024: 0 tonne, 2023: 0 tonne).

KPI A1.5 Measures to mitigate emissions

In accordance with policies stated above for the reduction of air
pollutants and GHG emissions from vehicles, the group adopts
the following measures: minimise the numbers of vehicles owned
by the group; minimise the frequency of employees to take
transportation for local business commuting; and minimise the
volume of business travel by employees. We consider that such
measures had been achieved during the year.

KPl A1.6 How hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,

reduction initiatives and results achieved

The group is committed as ever to conserving precious resources
by taking eco-friendly measures to reduce disposal of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that wasted electrical and electronic
equipment are the fastest growing waste materials in the world.
To alleviate the problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software. At the same
time, we promote the concept of replacing the particular depleted
computer components instead of the whole computer. Reducing
the replenishment rate of the computer components is not our
only objective, we also send depleted computer components to
the licensed recycling collectors to lessen the environmental impact
associated with electronic manufacturing from raw materials, as
well as to reduce hazardous and toxic substances handled during
disposal.
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Any hazardous wastes must be disposed through the approved
waste collectors. The non-hazardous wastes, such as packaging
material, are systematically collected and transported to designated
government-funded disposal facilities. For surplus resources, e.g.
end-of-life disposal products, we make every effort to ensure
responsible handling and disposal. Donation of surplus resources
to charitable organisations is supported. We routinely isolate
any recyclable components, e.g. paper, metal and electronic
components, prior to disposal. We consider that such measures
had been achieved during the year.

Other non-hazardous wastes produced by the group are mainly
generated from daily office operations, including daily paper
usage, office waste and food waste by employees. Those wastes
are collectively classified, collected and disposed of by the property
management office of the building on a regular basis.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Electricity consumption is a contribution to our GHG emissions and
energy footprints. The group adopts a number of energy-saving
initiatives as well as efficiency practices and policies to enhance
the awareness for GHG emission reduction and energy saving,
including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning system with
"Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging employees to turn off the computers and
information communication technology (“ICT") devices

when not in use;

- setting office machines such as copiers and display
monitors to turn-off mode automatically after office hour;

- maintaining indoor temperature at an optimal level for

comfort;

- putting up signage emphasizing the importance of energy

saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best use of the ICT

facilities so as to avoid unnecessary travel arrangements.
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The group continuously monitors and reviews the performance
and effectiveness of our appliances, replacing any out-date or
inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving technology.
We have encouraged paperless workflow such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced administrative
documentation. When using paper, employees are encouraged to
use double-sided paper, black and white or recycled papers when
printing or photocopying documents. It considerably improves
operational efficiency while creating a paperless operation system.

KPI A2.1 Energy consumption

Energy Usage and Emissions  Unit 2025 2024

Electricity consumption in kWh 0 812
electric vehicles

Electricity consumption in office  kWh 40,995 47,351

Electricity consumption in total ~ kWh 40,995 48,163

Energy consumption intensity ~ kWh per employee  1,782.39  1,852.41
(pro rata)

Gasoline and diesel consumption  Liter 0 0
of vehicle fleet

Aviation travel Kilometer 0 0

Paper used Ream 10 16

Paper used intensity (pro rata) ~ Ream per employee 0.44 0.62

KPI A2.2 Water consumption

We are committed to using all kinds of resources including water
efficiently and conservatively. Our group’s water consumption
mainly stems from daily office activities. Since our office uses public
tap water shared by the building and the water supply is under the
management of the building’s management office, information
of water consumption of individual units of the building is not
available. Notwithstanding the situation, we always promote water
conservation and water efficiency in the workplace.
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KPI A2.3 Energy use efficiency targets

The group has adopted the foregoing measures to enhance energy
use efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI A2.4 Issues in sourcing water and water efficiency targets

During the year, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose. The group has adopted the foregoing measures to water
efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI A2.5 Packaging material used for finished products

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale and do not consume packaging materials during
our operations. The total packaging material used for finished
products is not applicable.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
In order to minimise impacts on the environment and natural
resources, we are committed to applying and integrating green

energy into our solutions and professional services.

KPI A3.1 Minimising impacts on the environment and natural

resources

We continue to develop and deploy sustainable energy solutions
and services for our customers, such as using rechargeable lithium
battery packs, in our solutions and services, so as to reduce
chemical waste. During the year, we applied and integrated green
technology into multiple existing access control system projects.

Regarding the operation of the office premises, we are not
aware of any significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources. With the implementation of green office
measures, we strive to minimise impacts on the environment
and natural resources. The group will continue to implement
environment-friendly practices within the operation in order to
enhance sustainability.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change
We continue to review and enhance policies on identification
and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the group.

KPI A4.1 Significant climate-related issues

The increasingly extreme weather and environmental conditions
have been creating a challenging environment for our employees
who work outdoors. As a responsible and caring employer, we
always put the health and safety of our employees as our top
priority. We observe and respond to the appeal by the Labour
Department, the Environmental Protection Department, and the
Centre for Health Protection that we take appropriate precautions
to the health and safety of our staff. Precautions and measures
taken include but not limited to:

- Taking heed of the weather report and adopt shift work
arrangements for employees to reduce their exposure to
the air pollutants, hot environment and other adverse
weather;

- Arrange appropriate rest breaks for employees during very
hot periods;

- Reducing outdoor physical exertion and the time of the
employees’ stay outdoors when the Air Quality Health
Index (AQHI) is at the “Very High” or “Serious” level.
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Social Responsibility
Aspect B1: Employment

In relation to human resources, we are committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and
race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational
safety of our employees, so as to safeguard their interests and
well-being. We are very proud to receive the “Partner Employer
Award 5 years” by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award” Recognition
Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local enterprises to
hire and provide internships to local students and graduates so
that they can accumulate work experience and develop a positive
attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the market.

We are committed to safeguarding the security and privacy of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, we
comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and Guidelines
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data,
with a view to protecting the privacy of our employees, partners,
customers and community.

We comply with various anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong
Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and equality, all
staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present, the anti-

discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o Race Discrimination Ordinance
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We supported by participating in the Selective Placement Division
of the Labour Department. The objective of the scheme is to assist
people with disabilities in securing jobs in open employment that
best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and experience, with
the ultimate aim of integrating them into the community and
helping them to be financially independent.

We review the corporate policy of employment and labour
regularly to ensure that we comply with the local labour
legislations and regulations. During the year, we did not come to
any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment’ related laws and regulations.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group

and geographical region

2025 2024
Number of employees
Full-time 20 24
Part-time 3 1
Intern 0 2
Workforce by gender
Female
Male 15 19
Workforce by age
20-29 5 8
30-39 3 2
40-49 4 6
50-59 5 5
60-69 6 6
70+ 0 0
By region
Hong Kong 22 25
United Kingdom 1 1
Macao 0 1
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KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and B8R AEAIEIEB1 2IF 14 5l ~ B AR B Rt lg 2 77
geographical region HYIE S n At

2025 2024 —E-RF ZEB-NEF
Workforce by gender BMBIE D K E S
Female 0% 0% egis 0% 0%
Male 21.1% 0% Bt 21.1% 0%
Workforce by age RFREDNEE D
20-29 37.5% 27.3% 20-29 37.5% 27.3%
30-39 0% 33.3% 30-39 0% 33.3%
40-49 33.3% 0% 40-49 33.3% 0%
50-59 0% 0% 50-59 0% 0%
60-69 0% 0% 60-69 0% 0%
70+ 0% 0% 70+ 0% 0%
By region B EE S
Hong Kong 12.0% 7.4% BB 12.0% 7.4%
United Kingdom 0% 0% R 0% 0%
Macao 100% 0% P 100% 0%
Aspect B2: Health and Safety EEB2 - BEHLE
We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have significant BMETHAEEEEAYENEHAREMHTELET
impacts on us relating to providing a safe working environment ERBERREREE PBEEEENEBEZER
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including B0 BEGBER R REFRED) -

the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

KPI B2.1 Work-related fatalities BISRAERCHENERD 112 F A T 52

2025 2024 —E-RE Z—B-NF
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 BFATHH AL 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 FFATE L E(%) 0
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury B A IEIEB2 2R T 515K TIEA S

2025 2024 —ECRE —E-NME
Lost days due to work injury 0 0 ETHEELATERH 0 0
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KPI B2.3 Occupational health and safety measures

We develop and adopt health and safety policies, including
prohibition of smoking in the workplace, abuse of alcohol and
drugs, identification and prevention of risks and hazards in the
working area, and follow-up actions for accidents or personal
injuries. Such policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for
our employees to comply with. We also update the health and
safety policies from time to time to ensure that the policies are
best fit to our business.

First-aid kits and fire-fighting devices and equipment are provided
and easily identified in the premises in case of injuries and
emergencies.

Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. We appoint a
registered fire service contractor to carry out the annual works or
the provision of or improvement on fire service installations and
equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for water and carbon
dioxide, fire extinguishing devices, fire sand and fire blanket,
emergency lighting and exit sign have been installed and tested by
the fire service contractor annually. We conduct fire drills and use
of equipment every year.

We take various measures to minimise the risks of spreading
infectious diseases in the workplace. We regularly clean and
disinfect frequently touched surfaces such as furniture and door
handles to maintain environmental hygiene. In the meanwhile, all
employees are advised to maintain personal hygiene.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our businesses
continues to increase, competition poses the risk of employee
turnover. We address this risk by providing our employees with
training opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty
while cultivating their professional development.
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Every new joiner will be provided with proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous training is
also committed by us in different ways including on-the-job
training, comprehensive training for specific skill development and
professional training for relevant employees. Each department
is also responsible for setting and developing their own training
programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development
of our staff. Job rotation opportunities are given to help advance
personal development and facilitate employee substitutions. Both
the management and employee work together to identify the
department and position suitable for a job rotation.

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category

2025 2024
By gender
Female 75.0% 87.5%
Male 62.5% 63.2%
By employee category
Management 46.2% 50.0%
General 90.9% 86.7%

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category

2025 2024
No. of hours No. of hours

By gender
Female 5.9 5.8
Male 19.9 7.6

By employee category
Management 3.9 3.3
General 28.6 10.0
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impacts on us relating to the prevention of use of child
and forced labour. We do not accept any forms of forced labour
service. We also prohibit employing child labour at any working
place under any circumstances. We inspect applicant’s documents
and qualifications strictly during the recruitment process to ensure
that all relevant laws in respect thereof are complied with.

KPI B4.1 Employment practices to avoid child and forced labour

We inspect applicant’s documents and qualifications strictly during
the recruitment process to ensure that all relevant laws in respect
thereof are complied with.

We review the corporate policies relating to the prevention of use
of child and forced labour regularly to ensure that we comply with

the local labour legislations and regulations.

KPI B4.2 Steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

We strictly comply with all relevant laws and regulations. If any
child or forced labour is discovered, such employment will be
terminated immediately. During the year, we did not come to any
material non-compliance case that constituted violation of relevant
laws and regulations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Paying attention to the environmental and social risks of the
supply chain, we constantly monitor and review our procurement
and outsourcing policies and practices and remain cautious in
our selection of suppliers. We expect that our suppliers remain
consistent with high standards of business ethics and the laws. We
have no tolerance towards any violation of business ethics and the

laws.
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KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region

2025 2024
Hong Kong 42 58
China 3 5
The USA 1 0
Taiwan 0 0
Other countries/regions 1 0

KPI B5.2 Practices relating to engaging suppliers

We engage suppliers through standard evaluations, based on
multiple factors, including commercial ethics, availability, quality
of materials, experience, track record, price competitiveness,
environmental policies and practices, and the like. During the year,
all suppliers went through the standard evaluations. We conduct
supplier evaluations on a regular basis and review the practices
when necessary.

KPI B5.3 Practices used to identify environmental and social risks

along the supply chain

Environmental and social risks along the supplier chain are
incorporated into our risk management framework. We constantly
monitor and review both environmental and social risks along the

supply chain.

KPI B5.4 Practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services

As a solution and professional service provider, we are committed
to applying and integrating environmentally preferable products
and services into our solutions and professional services. When
we select suppliers, we take into account their environmental
policies and practices so as to promote environmentally preferable
products and services. We review the standard supplier evaluations

when necessary.
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

We implement and maintain a quality management system of high
standards. It is our core value that we never compromise on safety
or quality and dedicate ourselves to a zero harm-and-fault mindset.

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale. The percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons is not applicable.

KPI B6.2 Products and service related complaints

During the year, we did not receive any products and service
related complaints relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters. When we receive a complaint, we
record details of the complaint, conduct an internal investigation
into the matter, discuss options for fixing the problem, and
follow up to avoid the problem in the future. We encourage our
customers to provide feedback and complaints through established
communication channels.

KPI B6.3 Observing and protecting intellectual property rights

We acknowledge the importance of intellectual property rights
and protection, we set out our policies and principles towards the
creation, utilization and protection of software, patents, designs
and trademarks registration and the related renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a document
or notification is provided to partners and vendors before business
engagement. Internally, we enter into employment contracts with
our employees which contain provisions on intellectual property
rights and confidentiality. Employees sign written confirmation to (i)
confirm that all intellectual property rights created or made during
their employment shall be vested in the group; and (ii) agree not
to use or disclose confidential information without authorization
or approval.
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KPI B6.4 Quality assurance process and recall procedures

We adopted the practices of ISO 9001:2015 Quality Assurance
System which were first accredited in 2002. We maintain the
quality by complying with those standards and demonstrate that
we have the ability to consistently provide services that meet our
customers’ needs and fulfil applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

KPI B6.5 Consumer data protection and privacy policies

We are committed to meeting internationally-recognised
standards of personal data privacy protection, in compliance
with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
All staff members are required to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations in the collection, use, disclosure and retention of
customers’ data.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

We establish a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. Strong anti-
corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall
governance framework of the group. We are committed to
mobilising resources to safeguard the assets and ultimate interests
of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
procurement processes and contractual requirements. We maintain
a list of preferred suppliers so as to ensure reliable and effective
delivery of the products and services we require.
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KPI B7.1 Legal cases regarding corrupt practices

2025 2024
Number of concluded legal 0 0
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the
group or its employees
Outcomes of the cases N/A N/A

KPI B7.2 Preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures

The group has an internal reporting mechanism for our personnel
to report possible breaches of integrity requirements. The group
handles these reports promptly and in strict confidence. The group
strictly forbids retaliation against any personnel who, in good
faith, reports possible breaches of integrity requirements or who
participates in the inquiry or investigation of the allegation. Such
policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for our employees
to comply with.

KPI B7.3 Anti-corruption training

All new employees and directors are briefed on the group’s anti-
corruption policies and principles during introduction training.
We also provide training to existing employees and directors to
ensure that they are aware of and comply with relevant laws and
regulations.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

We are dedicated to working with our communities to promote
social responsibility, strengthen the communities’ interests and
build healthier and more sustainable communities together.
Therefore, we value community engagement which allows us to
listen to members of our communities and understand their needs.
Our approach to community engagement is anchored to our ESG
and sustainability strategies.
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KPI B8.1 Health

We have been participating in the ORBIS Pin Campaign since
2006. Fifteen staff members took part in the latest Campaign and
wore the Pins on 10 October 2024 to embrace ORBIS’s mission
in support of World Health Organization’s World Sight Day.
Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate preventable
blindness in impoverished nations worldwide. Long-term eye care
programs that increase local surgical skills, facilities and eye health
awareness have helped restore sight to over 6.8 million needlessly
blind people to date.

We have supported the local registered charity Suicide Prevention
Services (SPS) and participated in its annual charity walk fundraising
event for years. The event was suspended for four years due to the
epidemic and resumed in 2023. Funds raised are used to support
and develop suicide prevention services to benefit more individuals
in need and jointly build a caring and harmonious society.

KPI B8.2 Education

We have been supporting internship programs for undergraduates
from tertiary institutions since 2006 assisting more than 200
students to gain solid experience and knowledge in their fields
through taking actual work responsibilities.

We have been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations were also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. We are honored to be one of the Principal Members of
the City University of Hong Kong Foundation.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment Information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 9 of this annual

report.
Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

Directors’ Report
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HREBEAEEIL
Revenue Purchases
Wz wEE
The largest customer BAEP 65% -
Five largest customers in aggregate FARE 45T 90% -
The largest supplier BAER - 35%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate R ERS AT - 70%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Dividend

On 16 June 2025, the Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.2 cents (2024: HK$0.2 cents) per ordinary share of
the company in cash distributed from the share premium account of
the company for the year ended 31 March 2025 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 29 August
2025. As at 31 March 2025, the company’s share premium account
was approximately HK$3,581,000. Subsequent to the approval of the
company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and after the payment of the proposed final dividend, assuming there
are no other changes to the share premium account, the company’s
share premium account is expected to be reduced to approximately
HK$1,730,000. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the
year. The recommendation of final dividend has not been incorporated in
the financial statements for the year but will be recorded in the following
year.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the company subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The articles of association provide
that an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the company is
required for any distribution out of the share premium account.

Subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting on Monday, 4 August 2025 the final dividend will be paid on
Friday, 19 September 2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the company on Friday, 29 August 2025.
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Closure of Register of Members

(i) Entitlement to Attend and Vote at the 2025 Annual
General Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 30 July
2025 to Monday, 4 August 2025 , both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attendance of annual general meeting, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shop 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 29 July 2025.

(ii)  Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 27
August 2025 to Friday, 29 August 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shop 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 26 August 2025.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company
Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Miss Ng Yuen Ying (Appointed on 1 October 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the company’s articles of
association, Miss Ng Yuen Ying, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr.
Yeung Kin Hing will retire from the board by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election.

The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to date of
this report is as follows:

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Besides, Miss Ng Yuen Ying has entered into service contract with the
company on 12 August 2024 for an initial fixed term of two years
commencing from 1 October 2024 which will be extended for one year
unless either party gives the other a prior notice in writing to terminate the
extension.
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Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

At 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company
and the Exchange were as follows:

Interests in Issued Shares of the Company
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Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 7,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) 248,210,348 (L) 26.82%
ZEAEE (Note 2)
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Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,988,000 (L) - 113,988,000 (L) 12.32%
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests in the
shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the Exchange.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Rights to
Acquire Shares or Debt Securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed "“Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any
such rights.
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Interests and Short Positions of Shareholders in
the Shares and Underlying Shares

At 31 March 2025, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:
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Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm(Fff#E)

Mr. George Roger Manho 48,142,254 5.20%

EEMTE
Note:

These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant directors in the
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares,

underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2025.

Purchase, Sale and Redemption of Shares of the
Company

During the year, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares.
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Directors’ Interest in Transactions, Arrangement
or Contracts

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted during
or at the end of the year in which the director or an entity connected with
the director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into
or in existence during the year.

Connected Transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 139 of this annual report.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the

remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Auditor

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
on 30 April 2024 and CWK CPA Limited has been appointed as the
auditor of the company on 30 April 2024. CWK CPA Limited has been
resigned as the auditor of the Company on 14 November 2024 and OOP
CPA & Co. has been appointed by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy
so arising on 14 November 2024. There have been no other changes in
auditor during the preceding three years. A resolution will be submitted
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company to re-appoint
OOP CPA & Co. as auditor of the company. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by OOP
CPA & Co..

By order of the board
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 16 June 2025
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B4a BB

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 139, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matter.
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Key audit matter

RRELRSER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMEERREETEE

Revenue recognition on service contracts JRIEE % # UK 25 7ERD

Refer to notes 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements 7

F2HEEMBHRRMES - 4KR5

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, radio frequency
identification (“RFID") and IT services contracts are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at
the end of the reporting period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate
the total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing
each of the contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group.
It is significant to the consolidated financial statements and
requires judgements in applying the input method for recognising
revenue from related service contracts.
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Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

- Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
process that the management performed in relation to
the estimation of total costs and the determination of the
status of completion of the service contracts;

- Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets and the
determination of stage of completion as at the end of the
reporting period,;

- Checking and testing, on a sample basis, the contract
sum and budgeted costs to the signed service contracts
and approved budgets, and on a sampling basis, checking
to actual costs incurred, progress billings to date and
provisions for any foreseeable losses as at the end of the
reporting period; and

- Evaluating and assessing management'’s estimates in their
determination of, among other matters, the percentage
of completion of the service contracts, actual costs
incurred to date, estimated costs to completion and
provisions for onerous contracts.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors of the company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance is responsible for overseeing the group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 12 BN

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwan Kai Chun.

OOP CPA & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

Kwan Kai Chun

Practising Certificate number PO6957
Hong Kong

16 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meESERkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

Note 2025 —E=-FHF 2024 —Z P
i HK$#& T HK$# 7T

Revenue g 5 12,707,432 12,726,778
Cost of services rendered BERERE AR AR (3.661,549) (4,501,021)
Cost of sales cEEWMKA (140,057) (82,988)
Gross profit ER 8,905,826 8,142,769
Other revenue and other gains, net Epb Yoam K Bopth Woan FE 6 934,839 1,618,240
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (7,757,695) (7,618,180)
Finance costs BT RAR 7(a) (19,796) (55,103)
Profit before taxation B A3 F 7 2,063,174 2,087,726
Income tax FriSHi 8 - (87,274)
Profit for the year attributable FRARQBEE AEMLREF

to owners of the company 2,063,174 2,000,452
Other comprehensive income HittZ2EKA
Item that may be reclassified to HZ ] pEEA 7R 1R i H

profit or loss, net of nil tax: (EHIEFE)
Exchange differences on translation of TBINETE IR E 25

foreign operations - 13,872
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA

for the year - 13,872
Total comprehensive income for FRRQTEE AEMWL

the year attributable to owners of 2HEWAEEE

the company 2,063,174 2,014,324
Earnings per share BRER 12
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B 5E (GBAL) 0.22 0.22
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

As at 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WZZE-RF=A=+—HUANETIIE)

Note 2025 —F-HF 2024 —FZU4F
bEss HKS$# 7T HK$Z 7T
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB KR tE 13 871,914 768,989
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables H 5 R EAM R IE 14 3,668,851 3,670,748
Income tax recoverable AI B TSR - 17,120
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 15 19,847,187 18,570,300
23,516,038 22,258,168
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M HMFERFRIA 16 3,575,009 2,563,241
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 395,611 725,404
Provisions BE 18 491,310 532,073
Income tax payable FERTERISBE 91,573 -
4,553,503 3,820,718
Net current assets REBEERE 18,962,535 18,437,450
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERS 19,834,449 19,206,439
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 415,852 -
Net assets EERE 19,418,597 19,206,439
Capital and reserves EXR#E 22
Share capital R A 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves 5 10,163,517 9,951,359
Total equity R 19,418,597 19,206,439
These consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 72 were approved  #HRFESE N BN ARG BHERKEFTFeN T -0
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 June 2025 and XA+ NAMERBERISIUTEEREEZ T T

are signed on its behalf by:

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Director

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director

i

gIEX R
B= B=%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERBHK

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

Share Share Merger Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
K& RVEE AHRE  NEERRE ZiER HEs
HKS AT HKS AT HKS AT HKS AT HKS AT HK$ BT
Note (note 22(a))  (note 22(b)(i))  (note 22(b)(ii))  (note 22(b)ii))
M (WEE22e)  (Me220)0)  (REE2200))  (RFE22(b)il)
At 1 April 2023 ZE--£NA-H 9,255,080 10,059,157 10,748 910 (13,903) (8,229,589) 21,819,655
Changes in equity for the year: ERMERET
Profit for the year ERER| - - - - 2,000452  2,000452
Other comprehensive income FREMZERA
for the year - - - 13,872 - 13,872
Total comprehensive income FREERAEE
for the year - - - 13,872 2,000,452 2,014,324
Dividend in respect of previous year  AFREHERZ
approved and paid 1(b) - (4,627,540) - - - (4,627,540)
At 31 March 2024 and RZB-M$=R=+-BR
1 April 2024 “Z_mEMA-A 9,255,080 5431617 10,748,910 (31 (6,229,137) 19,206,439
Changes in equity for the year: ERMEREE:
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 2,063,174 2,063,174
Total comprehensive income FREERAEE
for the year - - - - 2,063,174 2,063,174
Dividend in respect of previous year AR EHERZ
approved and paid 1(b) - (1,851,016) - - - (1,851,016)
At 31 March 2025 R-BZRF=R=t+-H 9,255,080 3,580,601 10,748,910 (31 (4,165,963) 19,418,597
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2025 —F-HF 2024 —FZU4F
bEss HK$#E T HK$Z 7T
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation FR B8R & A 2,063,174 2,087,726
Adjustments for: RDISIEEL A
— Interest income —F BUA 6 (593,789) (562,665)
— Finance costs — B R R AR 7(a) 19,796 55,103
— Depreciation —eE 7(c) 759,320 743,527
— Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ — H&E¥E - BiE MR EHWES
equipment 6 - (79,226)
— Write-off of inventories —FEMHE 7(c) - 42,535
Operating profit before changes in REEESBFHANLERT
working capital 2,248,501 2,287,000
Decrease in inventories FERD - 10,542
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 I B Ath FEUCGRIE (32 n) s
other receivables (42,997) 724,553
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 & HAn R SR IEE MO A)
other payables 1,011,768 (1,253,429)
Decrease in provisions BERD (40,763) (57,515)
Cash generated from operations (¥BEEES 3,176,509 1,711,151
Tax refund HFCRE 128,652 575,696
Tax paid RS (19,959) (222,782)
Net cash generated from operating REERELRSFEE
activities 3,285,202 2,064,065
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meEReREXR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

Note 2025 —E=AF 2024 —E-F

i HK$#& T HK$# 7T

Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property, plant TRBEYE - WEREE

and equipment (5,888) (7,398)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant &M - BB KEERA

and equipment - 122,000
Interest received B UF B 593,789 562,665
Net cash generated from investing REFHELERSFE

activities 587,901 677,267
Financing activities R B R E
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE 20 (725,404) (690,097)
Interest on lease liabilities paid BENHEEEETFE 20 (19,796) (55,103)
Dividend paid BERRE (1,851,016) (4,627,540)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEETBMARESFE (2,596,216) (5,372,740)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and ReRBEEEYFE

cash equivalents EHCGHA) 1,276,887 (2,631,408)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNNESRBESEEY

beginning of the year 18,570,300 21,187,836
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMNBIE R B RIE - 13,872
Cash and cash equivalents at the ERNESRESEEY

end of the year 15 19,847,187 18,570,300
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The
address of the principal place of business of the company and its
operating subsidiaries is Unit D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478
Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 26.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Rax-
Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate beneficial owner of Rax-

Comm is Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
f= A

sre B ERR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

74

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
Amendment to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial

Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Accounting Standards - Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for HKFRS 18 which would have impact to the presentation
and disclosure to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R AT AT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is
in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the

date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 4 years

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other equipment 4 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

— Right-of-use assets Over the lease terms
The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e BRI &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and rights-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets lives to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and rights-of-
use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets
of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“other income” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 on financial assets (including trade receivable, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivable and
contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
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date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost

or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when BEREms  RTHEERRRSEEE AR -
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o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;
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credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, BEHFANEERE ERENEHERSE
the credit default swap prices for the debtor; EZLEFA:

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of J
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R AT AT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

3  Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped based on:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables together with contract assets and deposits and
other receivables are each assessed as a separate group);

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised

(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit

or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R AT AT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised costs. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the group initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the

fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Iltems of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Employee benefits

0} Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the group;
(if) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group'’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of the group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group'’s parent.

e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue and profit recognition of contracting
service and contract assets

The Group provides contracting service for smartcard systems,
radio frequency identification (“RFID") and IT services.

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of
contracting service and contract assets according to the Group’s
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the contracting
service contracts as well as the stage of completion of contracting
service which is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Estimated construction revenue is determined with
reference to the terms of the relevant contract.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

110

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Revenue and profit recognition of contracting
service and contract assets (continued)

Construction cost which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges
and costs of materials are estimated by the management on
the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the major
contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management.

The management is also required to exercise significant judgement
in their assessment of the completeness and accuracy of forecasted
costs to complete and the ability to deliver contracts within
forecasted timescales.

Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises the
estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the construction
contract as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or
lower than the estimates and this will have significant impact on
the revenue and profit recognised and the contract assets.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of contract assets in
relation to contracting service was approximately HK$549,989
(2024: HK$1,401,399).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Revenue and segment information

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS

5 WERSTHRE

() EFEBRBWEIE

REFBVHRE LS 1SHHRERND

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

BEFPR

15 is as follows: EPEENT ¢
2025 —F-FHE 2024 ZFZU4F
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RFID and 2B REL ~ §74AH#BI R E
IT services BHE R
— Service revenue — R U 2,908,288 3,291,176
— Income from maintenance services —RERFUA 9,409,587 9,114,762
— Sales of service related products —HE RS E @ 389,557 320,840
12,707,432 12,726,778
Disaggregated by primary geographical FEME IS
markets
~ Hong Kong — & 12,677,664 12,609,598
- Macau —BF 29,768 117,180
12,707,432 12,726,778
Disaggregated by timing of revenue Was MR A 9 48
recognition
— Over time — BERFFE 12,317,875 12,405,938
- A point in time — R 389,557 320,840
12,707,432 12,726,778
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

Revenue and segment information
(continued)

(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contract with
customers

All the services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Segment reporting

(@) Operating segment information

The group conducts its business within one business segment,
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating
activities are attributable to a single operating segment.

(b) Geographical information

The group’s operations were principally located in Hong Kong and
all of the Group’s assets and liabilities are located in Hong Kong.
Accordingly, no analysis by geographical basis is presented.

© Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10%
or more of total revenue of the group, is set out below:

W sk K 2 #B (4R

(i) XBEREREFEHNNNBEY
B0 8

MARBOBMRA—FHERE - REFBUBR
FEAFEISRNRE - KnENARNRBER
TTHE

o

DU
@) BESHEH
ARENEERE—BARESH - NEETER
5+ STSTMB R MBEIRTS A R BRI - A
BAEENESRBHCARBUILE  BRR
B8 - Wk AREREEEDRAE—HES
-

©)  EER

ARBIBEEBOEEY AREFGEER
BELESS - BILHESISER B -

© BHEBEFEN

EAREENARGEBI0%NEE2XPOT

2025 —E-HF 2024 —E -4

HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Customer A EPH N/A* TEFR* 1,541,274
Customer B BEZ 8,330,500 7,426,212
Customer C ®FA 1,303,086 N/A* AN F *
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the * HE R W N AR R B AN O [ FE S 1 48U E5 10% o

group'’s revenue in the respective year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

6  Other revenue and other gains, net 6 HftlmkHMasFE
2025 —E-HF 2024 =T ZPY4F
HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Other revenue Hibuzz
Government grants (Note) BB (M) 265,842 893,593
Interest income FBEUA 593,789 562,665
Sundry income HAbggA 75,208 82,756
934,839 1,539,014
Other gains, net HtF Wz
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE - BFE REERR
equipment - 79,226
934,839 1,618,240
Note: Bt eE -

Government grants refer to the funding support offered by The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR Government”) on the
areas of recruitment and retention of staff and project development supporting.
There was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to these grants.

The group received funding of HK$125,842 (2024: HK$813,593) on project
development supporting. In addition, the group successfully applied for funding
of HK$140,000 (2024: HK$80,000) from the Research and Development Cash
Rebate Scheme under Innovation and Technology Commission, set up by the
HKSAR Government.

BT BIE BB AT E BT (@ BUR ) RIS AR &
EERABERNA SN - HEFHZEHNORER MK

ekl AR -

ANEEES 125,842 L (ZZ = U4F : 813,593 L) MIEE
AEIR/HED - N REBRBBFERFEFRHEE
AR IR £ O 8251 £149140,00078 7T (—Z — P94 : 80,000

BILHREEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

7  Profit before taxation 7  BRBIAIER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: FRAE AT A B R

2025 —E=AF 2024 —E-F

HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
(@) Finance costs: (a) BIFSAAS :
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEaENITBER 19,796 55,103
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ (b)y BIXAK(BIEZEFRHD):
remuneration)*:
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMEF 8,137,952 7,528,958
Retirement scheme contributions RORETEIEF(FIRE21)
(note 21) 212,904 237,303
8,350,856 7,766,261
() Other items: (0 EmIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 253,000 253,000
Cost of inventories** FEmK A 554,777 630,113
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and equipment —BEYE - BELRE 13,716 73,630
— right-of-use assets —fFREEE 745,604 669,897
Development costs* B K A 758,425 965,032
Exchange loss, net b W s 18 B 13,336 101,997
Expense relating to short-term leases RHEE REEEEEHEME
and leases of low-value assets A 18,960 32,834
Write-off of inventories** FEE - 42,535
# Development costs included staff costs of HK$758,425 (2024: # B A $5758,4257% T ( — T — P04 : 942,363
HK$942,363), which is also disclosed separately in note 7(b). BT E TR - ILERARIFETEM FE7(b) B 5
E’g o
# Cost of inventories included write-off of inventories of HK$42,535 for i HEZZ-NMF=A=1+—HILFE  FEKELR
the year ended 31 March 2024. 542,535 TTIF EMIsH ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

Income tax 8 FEH
(@)  Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (a) HEgaBEEkEMmEEKERTOTIE
other comprehensive income represents: i
2025 —E-HEF 2024 —ZF U4
HK$#% T HK$E T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax EHHE-FEFNEH
Provision for the year FNEE - 87,274
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) BEENEHERBEMAFFRERTEMA16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits during the year. One of the (ZZEZMF - 165%):E - AEBEHFA—HER
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong within the group which BAKHNBATR - ZMFE R ZRHIF
is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate BHEERPEN - ZMBARE 88BN
regime in FY2024. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of JERBLRA TR B8.25% 4T By E SR it I B
estimated assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining @E'JZ%JG.S% N2 B H fth 2 B30 48 1 ] FEER T
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong NS B A BEE E A R M H EH ERELUS
Profits Tax has been made for other companies within the group F - BUERE W MEAPTSTEE -
as they incurred losses for tax purpose or had sufficient tax losses
brought forward to set off estimated assessable profits for both
years.
(b)  Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit (b) IZFBHREEHERNFERHENADN
at applicable tax rate: I
2025 —E-HEF 2024 —Z U
HK$#% T HK$E T
Profit before taxation R A AR A 2,063,174 2,087,726
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BrBiRTE MEYR16.5%
calculated at the applicable tax rate of (ZEZUF £ 16.5%)
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) BN R RRIEIA 340,424 344,475
Tax effect of different tax rates on P A RIAR &b 75 Bt R TR A
subsidiaries operating in other BThvs-7
jurisdictions (12,060) (9,740)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N HIR B RO B 2 9,732 25,922
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERB AT IS 2 (97.850) (105,912)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised B R FHRIBEIERNRIETE (281,463) (299,261)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RIERN G Z RTS8
recognised (3,679) 193,472
Tax effect of unused tax losses not KRR N AR E) AT IEEERY
recognised Mg e 44,896 25,592
Income tax concession PG BiHTE - (87,274)
Income tax PSR - 87,274
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BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

Income tax (continued) 8 FrEH(4&)
(c) Deferred tax assets () EZEMREEE
At 31 March 2025, the group has not recognised deferred RZZFEZRAF=ZA=+—H BRBEMNER
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately MatZENEENENEY I NEE  KNEE
HK$16,482,000 (2024: HK$18,188,000) due to the uncertainty AYAMBEEMABRNEERIBEEELN R
of the related tax benefits being realised through future taxable 16,482,000/ T ( ZF = PU4 :18,188,000/57T)
profits. The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. ANE)ATIEE R AET -
Directors’ remuneration 9 E=EWMe
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIEGEM LR BI R EH B A e &R 5383 15K R 8
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as EEMEFBEOT
follows:
2025 —E-REF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees in kind bonuses contributions benefits Total
g% 2R il |
EZhe BRlE Bisa iz BRER aif
HKSH# T HK$H T HKS% T HKSH T HKSH T HKSH T
Executive directors HEE
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Agrti
(Chief Executive Officer) (FREH) 76,230 1,536,576 - 18,000 - 1,630,806
Mr. Cheng Kok Hung el e 76,230 - - - - 76,230
M. Liu Hoi Wah Ry 76,230 - - - - 76,230
Miss Ng Yuen Ying RITEE
(Appointed on 1 October 2024) (R=Z-mETA-BEZR) 38,115 82,000 - - - 120,115
266,305 1,618,576 - 18,000 - 1,903,381
Independent non-executive directors B3/ ES
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BEHE 76,230 - - - - 76,230
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BEREE 76,230 - - - - 76,230
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing BRELE 76,230 - - - - 76,230
228,690 - - - - 228,690
Total At 495,495 1,618,576 - 18,000 - 2,132,011
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

Directors’ remuneration (continued) 9 EEME(E)
2024 —EZmE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees in kind honuses contributions benefits Total
%2R BAREE
EEiE il BT i3 BB A
HKS$E 7T HKSE7T HKSETT HKSHE T HKSHE T HKS 57T
Executive directors Y%
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent ey i
(Chief Executive Officer) (F#) 71033 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 1,695,247
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BEmEE 71,033 - - - - 71,033
M. Liu Hoi Wah ety 71033 - - - - 71,033
213,09 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 1837313
Independent non-executive directors B3 EI1TES
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony e 71,03 - - - - 71,03
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BEREE 71,033 - - - - 71,033
M. Yeung Kin Hing ARELE 71033 - - - - 71033
213,099 - - - - 213,099
Total aif 426,198 1,606,214 - 18,000 - 2,050,412

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
were paid by the group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, none of the directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

BE"Z-RAFR"ZT_MF=A=+—HILF
E $%I$ﬁ%?ﬁ%l‘tﬂ§$i‘iﬁ%i{’ﬁ%m2\$%l
o - BE

AR E B K SR E) S BB (E -
TECRAFRE_NF=ZA=1+—
WEEERELREREETMAHE

HIEFE
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10
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Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2024:
one) individual is director whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other
four (2024: four) individuals are as follows:

10

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

REFAL

REMNGESHFALTH  —(ZF_0WOF : —fiL)
REF  RENWSDEHRME - Hapmiz (=
ToE O &RSHFALTHOMSEENT

2025 —E-RfF 2024 —Z P4

HKS$#E T HK$E 7T

Salaries and other emoluments #Fre REAMMB e 2,022,135 1,873,936
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 248,400 183,959
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRGET SR 53,010 52,702
2,323,545 2,110,597

The emoluments of the four (2024: four) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following band:

M (ZF=OF : Of) {REHALTHMESNF
THIEHE :

2025 —E=-HF 2024 —E -4

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATEE ATEE
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 7T — 1,000,000/ 7T 4 4
Dividends 11 RE
@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Group (a) FRENTAEERERRERNRS

attributable to the year

2025 —E-FRF
HKS$# T

2024 —Z U4
HK$E T

Proposed final dividend after the end of the R4 HAZR 25 A0 < HAPG B —

reporting period — HK$0.2 cents (2024: TR EAR0.2781L

HK$0.2 cents) per ordinary share

(ZZ P04 - 0.2710)

1,851,016 1,851,016

The proposed final dividend for the year is recommended by the
directors after the end of the reporting period which is to be paid
out of the share premium account of the Group. Such dividend
is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the upcoming
Annual General Meeting. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11 Dividends (continued) 1

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Group
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and
paid during the year

e MmN

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

e (&)

(b) BEMBEEREMNTAREEERBROK
BERFARIEA R

2025 —ZE=-HF 2024 —Z U4

HK$#% 7T HK$B 7T
Final dividend in respect of the previous FFEERERR. 28
year, approved and paid during the year - (ZZ =PU4 : 0.5781l)
HK$0.2 cents (2024: HK$0.5 cents) per BRI B E R E R
ordinary share LA R SZ A+F 1,851,016 4,627,540
12 Earnings per share 12 BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit ERBRDDEAEEEE AEAE R

attributable to owners of the Group of HK$2,063,174 (2024:
HK$2,000,452) and the weighted average of 925,508,000 (2024:

2,063,174 7L ( ZZE U4 : 2,000,452 70) &
FRNEETTE B INE T2 20925,508,0000%

925,508,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as (ZZ P4 : 925,508,0004%) * H&aF :
follows:
2025 —E-HF 2024 —ZT_F
Issued ordinary shares and weighted BEITERR & @A hnE
average number of ordinary shares Fi58r 925,508,000 925,508,000

As the Group does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, basic and
diluted earnings per share are the same.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 & 3R

BE-T-_AFR-T-ME=A=+-ALSF
R BT AT R AR - R A RS R
A o

119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R AT AT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13 Property, plant and equipment

120

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

13 W% BERKE

Properties Computer
|eased for Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
ownuse  improvements and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HEkEANNE  RENERE BAREE  SHREMRE AE it
HK$B 7T HK$E T HK$7E T HKS7E T HKS 7T HKS7ETE
Cost: A
At 1 April 2023 “2C-FRA-A 1,415,501 493,556 170,230 495,018 591,011 3,165,316
Additions HE - - - 7398 - 7398
Disposals e - - - (54,431) (591,011) (645,442)
At 31 March 2024 and R-E-MEZA=+-8%

1 April 2024 “ETMERA-A 1,415,501 493,556 170,230 447,985 - 2521212

Additions B 856,357 - - 5,888 - 862,245
Disposals e (1,415,501) - (153,769) (102,035) - (1,671,305)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=A=1-H 856,357 493,556 16,461 351,838 - 1718213
Accumulated depreciation: ZitE:
At 1 April 2023 “ECZERA-A - 493,556 168,570 458728 496,569 1617424
Charge for the year EniTE 669,898 - 1128 20834 51,668 743528
Eiminated on disposals HERTH - - - (54,431) (548,237) (602,668)
At31 March 2024 and R-Z-mE=A=t-BR

1 April 2024 “ECRERA-A 669,898 493,556 169,698 425,131 - 1,758,284
Charge for the year EMiE 745,603 - 53 13,185 - 759,320
Eiminated on disposals HERTH (1,415,501) - (153,769) (102,035) - (1,671,305)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZREZA=T-A - 493,556 16,461 336,281 - 846,299
Net carrying amount: RAER:

At 31 March 2025 RZEZREZA=1-A 856,357 - - 15,557 - 871,914
At 31 March 2024 RIEZME=A=1-A 745,604 - 532 2,853 - 768,989
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 13 #¥¥ - BEKRHE (&)

Note: B EE
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FREEE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class RIEMEERRIZI S NEREEERTENT ¢

of underlying asset is as follows:

2025 —ZE-HEF 2024 —Z U
HKS$#E T HK$A T
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated FAE{EEAMYE + AT ER A
cost (note (b)) 317 (BifE(b)) 856,357 1,415,501
The analysis of the depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of ERAREEREERBFHRITENSITNT ¢
underlying asset is as follows:
2025 —ZE-HF 2024 —ZT 5
HK$ % 7T HK$ETT
Properties leased for own use HEEE AN mE 745,603 669,897
Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities and total cash outflow for HEABAYIBONMEREERS RAENEME
leases are set out in notes 17 and 20. BHAMIEE17 22027 ©
(b) Properties leased for own use (b) HEFEERNYE
The group has obtained the right to use properties through tenancy AEBEDRAHEERZESERAYEES  HEH
agreements. The leases typically run for a period of 2 years with an R—RAEME - ﬂz@’éﬁé\é} NG REENETE
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the G AL RER - ZFHEOH T BIEE M AE
leases includes variable lease payments. & o
During the year ended 31 March 2025, additions to right-of-use assets HE_T-_RAF=A=+—HBFR  FEMEHE
were HK$856,357 (2024: Nil) which related to the capitalised lease ééﬁ%856,357/%7t(7’: WE ) lhe8mAe
payments payable for properties under new lease agreements. REFMEHESHNENENMEEESH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

14 Trade and other receivables 14 EBSZRHEMEKRFIE
2025 —FE-FHF 2024 —ZF P4
HKS$# T HK$&7T
Trade receivables from contracts with B REREFE KA
customers 1,518,214 639,992
Contract assets (note 19(a)) AHEEME19GQ)) 549,989 1,401,399
Deposits and prepayments e RkBENER 1,600,648 1,629,357
3,668,851 3,670,748
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits % A201,297,2947 7T ( —F = PU4F :939,134/57T)
of HK$1,297,294 (2024: HK$939,134) are expected to be ETFET  NEBWMFAEE S N E I FIE
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. FEEAR —F AR YR B ERAE A -
An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the BIERERLT NS RE S EWZRIEMNE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BT
2025 —FE-FHEF 2024 —ZF P4
HK$#E T HK$E7T
Less than 1 month DR —{E A 1,493,464 553,120
More than 1 month but less than 3 months 2@ —1& A1E L =1 A 24,750 86,872
1,518,214 639,992
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2024: 30 B R GTERERRBI0RE4SR(ZET
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group'’s F 1 30REASK) AEIE] o FFBEHAW E£24(a)$
credit policy are set out in note 24(a). LENEEBCR

15 Cash and bank balances and time deposits 15 BE&RBITEKURTEHER

2025 —E-HF 2024 —E -4

HK$E T HK$E 7T

Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4 1,899,568 2,745,473
Time deposits TE BTN 17,947,619 15,824,827
19,847,187 18,570,300
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Cash and bank balances and time deposits 15
(continued)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2025, time deposits are made
for terms of one to three months (2024: one to three months).

As at 31 March 2025, included in cash and cash equivalents is the
significant balance of HK$16,747,619 (2024: HK$12,186,571)
denominated in United States dollars which is a foreign currency,
other than functional currencies of entities within the group.

RERRTGHUREHER(E)

B T HATE SRR IR B E A R MR B4 - SRTTIF SR
FERA R R IR IR G B IR1TE B3 50M & &
HoHER_T_AF=-A=T—HLFE &
HEXEH—==@EA(ZZT-_NF: —==1
H) e

RZZE-AF=A=+—H pPEERSERS

SEMANAETEENEELE2516,747,6197%

JTL(ZZ VU4 : 12,186,571 7T) * ELARE
EEBIREEE AN EE -

Trade and other payables 16 EBEZRHMENRE
2025 —E-HEF 2024 —ZT_P%F
HK$#% 7T HK$E T
Trade payables g S ENRIA 47,986 95,607
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A R H M FRIE 1,917,879 1,512,131
Amount due to directors ENESERIE - 97,023
Contract liabilities (note 19(b)) axa & 19b) 1,609,144 858,480
3,575,009 2,563,241

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AEBENE S NE MR FKIBBRBN —FAN
B ERHIERBA -

RBERR - REZAYFEESRNFIENR

2025 —E=-HF 2024 —Z U4

HKS$# T HK$AE 7T

Less than 1 month LR—EA 23,829 93,057
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #2:8—1& A B8N =1 A 24,157 1,800
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BB =18 F{ELR—F - 750
47,986 95,607
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

17 Lease liabilities 17 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRINTAEER ST HAREEEBNRTEH
the group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period: FIERIER -

2025 —E=-AHF 2024 —E -4

HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Within 1 year —F A 395,611 725,404
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMFEN 415,852 -
811,463 725,404
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is 5% BARHESGEHNMETHEEERNERS%
per annum (2024: 5% per annum). (ZZ-NF :5%) °
18 Provisions 18 #&BfE
Defect
Employee liability
benefits period Total
EEER R EH a5t
HK$E 7T HK$E7T HK$# 7T
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(F3E(a)) (F5E (b))
At 1 April 2024 RZZE_UFMA—H 443,165 88,908 532,073
Additional provisions recognised,  FBIMEEHIRFE
net - 109,467 109,467
Reversal of unutilised amounts ANAREE R (11,113) (139,117) (150,230)
At 31 March 2025 RZE—RAF=A=+—H 432,052 59,258 491,310
Notes: Bzt
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERANBEBEDEREFRIFBERRIARE SN
compensation and long service leave claims made by employees. SRR o
(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REMBEDRELETEL R ERAMMET
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard TERAS » ANVREI AR E S A MARIREET A - i
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted BERTEEAIRE -

for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period

because the effect would not be material.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

19 Contract assets and contract liabilities 19 BHEEREGHNERE
(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE

Note 2025 —E"HEF 2024 —E U4

FieE HK$7& 7T HK$/E T
Contract assets which are included BRERIE 5 N H b EUIE |
in “Trade and other receivables” AEEKE P B FIR
(note 14) (FH&E14)
— Service contract works —REBEHIRE 538,614 1,346,849
— Retention money receivables —EYRES (i) 11,375 54,550
549,989 1,401,399
As at 1 April 2023, the contract assets amounted to RZBE-=FWMA—H 5488 ES1,042,381/%
HK$1,042,381. JT ©
Note: MiEE -
(i) Retention money receivables represents receivables for which the (i) FERRBEDHAEERTRZTRRREREREHE
group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory & IR ER S 2B RIRE T o
completion of the retention period.
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets recognised UHE A BES BB Y M — MBS HEF DT ¢
are as follows:
- Service contract works - REASHTIE
The group’s service contract works include payment schedules which AEBREAY ITIROEREANBRERLGTESD
require stage payments over the service contract period once stipulated PR BEIR(—BERRIEE) - WENRH
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-up RO IR EAANEE - e —RAETLE - I
of significant contract assets. A deposit is typically payable up front and EEEBVHELEANEE AEETRERS%
this has resulted in a contract liability at early stages of the project. And T10%HETALMANBERG—EMEREH -
the group also agrees to 1 year retention period for 5% to 10% of the AREEES NSRBIV AN EER TIZTH
contract value for certain project. This amount is included in contract BBERESAEE UL EIAAYEE &
assets until the end of the retention period as the group’s entitlement TREBEASE R A o

to this final payment is conditional on the group’s work satisfactorily

passing inspection.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HZZZ=HF=A=+—HILFE(CAETIIE)

19

Contract assets and contract liabilities 19 BHEERGHERE(E)

(continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

(b) ABHEE

2025 —F-HF 2024 ZZ 4

HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Contract liabilities which are included in BIERIE 5 R E A FRIE A8
“Trade and other payables” (note 16) EHEPEYHIE(ME6)
- Service contract works — RS E4HIIE 1,127,810 359,989
— Deferred maintenance income —RIERERA 481,334 498,491
1,609,144 858,480
(i) Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of 0) HEERENEESBEREEN—BX
contract liabilities recognised are as follows: HEEIT -
- Service contract and maintenance works — REEHRRETLRR
When the group receives deposits before the AEBERESLHMRBE TR
service contract and maintenance work commences B4  WERBESNHES
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start EHEE  EEpERBERNKE
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the BEReSEAL - LR AKREER
project exceeds the amount of the deposits. It is a ERIRIEE 4 RIREN T REN

common practice on each of the group’s service

and maintenance contracts to require a deposit

before work commences.

(i) Movements in contract liabilities

(i)

LATES) TRI 2 ki ©

B8

2025 —F=-HF

2024 —Z U4

HKS$38 T HK$E 7T

At the beginning of the reporting period RS HA ) 858,480 1,583,233
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of  ERERE AL (FHAEL]

recognising revenue during the year that ~ A#IEE)MEANENE

was included in the contract liabilities at B

the beginning of the year (858,480) (1,583,233)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EA X TIEAINEMELENSNE

billings in advance of contract works = 3,646,682 2,229,428
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ~ E#EFRF AU EE M ZE 4 K F N

recognising revenue during the year that A #& &

incurred during the year (2,037,538) (1,370,948)
At the end of the reporting period TR PN 1,609,144 858,480
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e MmN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF=FRF=A=+—HI-FE(LABTIIE)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

20

BMETBREENEEYR

NTIRFRAEENRE TR RENE
E)U PREAEIIRCNED - BRETHELEN
BERILAENREMECLIRENE SR
ERERIARAEENGARSREXRTHR

group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from BEHMRERE
financing activities:
Lease
liabilities
HEEE
HK$/E 7T
(note 17)
(BaE17)
At 1 April 2023 R-EBE-=FMA—H 1,415,501
Changes from financing cash flows: RERESRNE
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSMFEITE (55,103)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHRSNERTE (690,097)
Total changes from financing cash flows BMERSRE TR (745,200)
Other changes: Hith## 8
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FLESZ H (H7E7(a)) 55,103
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-BE-_mMF=A=+-HER=-Z-_NFMA—H 725,404
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRNE :
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSNFEITE (19,796)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHRENERTE (725,404)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERE M EBEE (745,200)
Other changes: Hith## s :
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FLESZ H (H7E7(a)) 19,796
Increase in lease liabilities from entering EFEEmg B Ea&E(FE17)
into new lease (note 17) 811,463
831,259
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RF=A=+-—H 811,463
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Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme vest fully and immediately with the employees.
Accordingly, the group’s contributions under the above-mentioned
defined contribution retirement plan had no forfeited contributions
which may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$212,904 (2024: HK$237,303).

Capital and reserves
(@) Share capital

Authorised and issued share capital

21

22

Number of

shares

R E

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

B TRKEF

REEIRES B ERRL A EGA BRIEES
BB IEBI B A FR R M2 B 5L E 8RR IKET &
MESEERMAHELATE SR (BB
2l - ZeafEeE AR EHICRRET S - WA
BUERELER - BERESHE  BERHE
RENEBEREEBENT SN % BAETESAEIE
;o MBABBANE S LR A30,0008 T - FTAE
HFIG AR FEME - AEBARE R EED
MR EHBGEREEME - Bt - AEE il
FEHRET B R B S WA AR IR
WEHFKFE -

REBRAREZF ABRNEAREHTEIHZKAE
212,904 (= Z =4 : 237,303/87T) °

EARR#E
(@) m’=x
FEEREZTERA

2025
—E-RE

2024
—T-HEF
Number of
shares HKS
& B BT

HK$
BT

Authorised: EERRAR -

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BRREE0.01EIT L BA%

2,000,000,000

20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

Ordinary share, issued and BETRMRBRAL B

fully paid:

At 1 April and at 31 March REA—BR=A=+—H

925,508,000

9,255,080 925,508,000 9,255,080

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Group. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Group's residual assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
Group's Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
Group issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies.

(0 Distributability of reserves
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, none of the reserves of the Group

is available for distribution to owners of the Group, except for the
reserve as stated in note 22(b)(i).

22
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(b) RENHEERAN
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BVEENHARXAHERARERAEEA
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BB o Bt (B IR A] LABUR AT R 3 -

(i) EOHEE

AEENEHEREE  RE-_FTTF+—A
TNABKIER » ARRBASR AR EEE
HU BRI E AR A EAIREE -

(iii)  IEELEE

SIS T 3 R B 1A R B L BB N R R B A Rk
MINEE R ZR - RBREBEHEN G BOREE -

() WoERHE

RIZB-RER-Z_MEF=A=+—8 " KK
AE22(b)(i)oh + AN S B I EAEARI A 0 B T AN 5 B Ak
REfE
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Capital risk management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes lease liabilities and trade and
other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2024, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell

assets to reduce debt.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 & 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. These risks are
limited by the group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
trade receivables and contract assets. The group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks of good credit-rating for which the group
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 96% (2024: 87%) and 95% (2024:
95%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are generally
due within 30 to 45 days from the date of billing. Negotiated on
a case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain customers
could be up to three months. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

24
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Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the group’s historic credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the
group'’s different customer bases.

Based on the historic data, current conditions and the group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables and contract assets, the directors of the Group have
considered the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets
and note that there was no actual loss nor significant past due
experience over the past 5 years, including periods of unfavourable
economic conditions. The directors consider the aggregate risks
arising from the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables and
contract assets are not significant as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the Group, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end

of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

cash flows was as follows:

24 SREBREERATEGE)

(b) ERBMEEE)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

RBEMKR - AEEREROSBAENRITE

WEMIRAT

2025 —E-hHE
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted oron less than
amount  cash outflows demand 2 years
R—%R BR—F
EEESiE) HEER BRER
REE RERH HiE 2
HKS#E 7T HKS$# 7T HKS$% 7T HKS$E 7T
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENHE
- Trade payables -ENE 5708 47,986 47,986 47,986 -
- Accrued charges and other payables —ENERREMENTE 1,813,203 1,813,203 1,813,203 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 811,463 854,401 427,200 427,201
2,672,652 2,715,590 2,288,389 427,201
2024 —EomE

Total Within
contractual 1 year
Carrying undiscounted oron
amount cash outflows demand
—FR
BRARITH FEER
FREE b2 Ayt BE
HK$E7T HK$E 7T HK$E 7T

Trade and other payables B 5 M HMFERFRIA
— Trade payables —ENE SR 95,607 95,607 95,607
— Accrued charges and other payables — — [/~ & F3 K Eoqth i (< 2008 1,609,154 1,609,154 1,609,154
Lease liabilities HEAE 725,404 745,200 745,200
2,430,165 2,449,961 2,449,961
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Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its lease
liabilities, which are at fixed rate, expose the group to fair value
interest risk. The group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk.

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group'’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial
performance and equity for both current and prior year.

(d)  Currency risk

Except for the bank balances and time deposits that are
denominated in United States dollar as disclosed in note 15, the
group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as most
of income and expenses giving rise to receivables, payables, bank
balances and time deposits that are denominated in the functional
currency of the entities within the group.

As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to United States dollar, the group
considers the risk of movements in exchange rate between Hong
Kong dollar and United States dollar to be insignificant.
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Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments

24 SREBREERATEGE)

(e) SRIAMESE

2025 —F-HF 2024 —E-H4F

HKS$#E T HK$Z 7T
Financial assets sREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BER AN SR E E 22,785,490 20,634,802
Financial liabilities oz N=K
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BN SRIBE 2,777,328 2,430,165

) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amortised cost not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Related party transactions and balances
(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,
represents amounts paid to the Group’s directors as disclosed in

note 9.

(b)  Details of outstanding balances dealt with related parties
are disclosed in note 16.

® 2F¥E

FEERITANARKARER T -AFR_
E_MFE=A=+—HHORFEEERTH -

25 BIEATRZREH
(a) EAREBASHS
FEEWMRERASWHE BEINALEESFS

R EEOIREE -

(b) BRI X5 E AL IR 16
#E -
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26 Subsidiaries’ information
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At 31 March 2025 and 2024, particulars of the group’s principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of group

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Percentage of
ownership interest

B~ R ER

AT /2 S B

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

R _AFR_T_MNF=H

=t+—HHNEZENBRRFIE

Particulars
of issued and
paid up capital

Principal activities and
place of operation

H5m/ BRITR
DRER PR SZ 3t B SN E L BRRAMFE ITEXBREED
Indirect
R
2025 2024
Z2DEF CTOOF
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 shares of  Provision of solutions and
Limited HK$1 each services for smartcity and
smartcard in Hong Kong
BEZAZARL BE 3,418,3360% EEEREBHTNERE
(SREEE1T) REER T ZARS
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research
HK$1 each of smartcard system and
service related products in
Hong Kong
RF Tech Limited 5 {k(BHREEIT) EEBEERAREERZ
SABRRIER
ITE Engineering Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Provision of solutions and
HK$1 each services for energy and
sustainability in
Hong Kong
ITE Engineering Limited % JREREEIT)  EEBRGERNTREY
FRRTT R R

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial

performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the

net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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Financial information of the Company

(a) Statement of financial position

27 ARATWHBER

(a) MHMRRE

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HIEFEAETIIE)

2025 —F-hHF 2024 ZF U4
HK$#E 7T HK$E7T

Non-current assets FEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RIE AR MIEE 4,000,000 4,000,000

Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RENER 180,558 179,838
Amount due from a subsidiary FEURHTE A ) 1,538,840 1,777,735
Income tax recoverable I e Fr 15 fR - 50,518
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEFED 2,565,944 2,051,325
4,285,342 4,059,416
Current liabilities REBEE

Amounts due to directors R NGIE S 104,676 -
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A R H M FE /I 254,847 363,977
359,523 363,977
Net current assets REBEERE 3,925,819 3,695,439
Net assets BEEFE 7,925,819 7,695,439

Capital and reserves BEAXRK#HE
Share capital [N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 27(b)) & (MEE27(b)) (1,329,261) (1,559,641)
Total equity R 7,925,819 7,695,439

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 & 3R

137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

sre B ERR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27

138

Financial information of the Company
(continued)

(b) Details of changes in the Company’s individual
components of reserves during the year:

27

AR BER(B)

BE-Z-RF=RA=+—HILFECANETIIE)

(b) FAARRFENENESHELT -

Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R5EE et a5t
HK$/E7T HK$E7T HK$# 7T
At 1 April 2023 R-ZEB-_=FMA—H 10,059,157 (13,163,658) (3,104,501)
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREEALTE
income for the year - 6,172,401 6,172,401
Dividend in respect of previous year ¥ 4F % B4 K& 2 1+
approved and paid (note 11(b)) (F3E11(D)) (4,627,540) - (4,627,540)
At 31 March 2024 and R-E-_ME=A=+—-HK
1 April 2024 —E-_WFMNA—A 5,431,617 (6,991,257) (1,559,640)
Profit and total comprehensive FRmNREERAERE
income for the year - 2,081,396 2,081,396
Dividend in respect of previous year &4 BHEE R 2
approved and paid (note 11(b)) (FFEET1(b)) (1,851,016) - (1,851,016)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RF=A=+-—H 3,580,601 (4,909,861) (1,329,260)
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Five Year Summary

AFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (JASTHIE)
2024/25 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21
—E-NZF —E-=F -7 —T-—-Z —EZZR
—RE —mE f— - 3 ——F
HKS$E T HK$ %L HK$ % 7T HK$ T HK$ % 7T
Results E
Revenue Yezs 12,707,432 12,726,778 15938745  32,655984 49,749,878
Profit from operations ER 2,063,174 2,087,726 4,917,977 6,251,966 8,453,187
Profit before taxation BB ATER 2,063,174 2,087,726 4,917,977 6,251,966 8,453,187
Income tax expense FERE - (87,274) (96,993) (89,780) -
Profit for the year attributable to owners ~ Z&EE#HAE AFR
of the Group PR E MR 2,063,174 2,000,452 4,820,984 6,162,186 8,453,187
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE 871,914 768,989 1,547,892 1,754,063 4,293,254
Net current assets MBEEFE 18,962,535 18437450 20,997,167 20,916,132 18,624,044
Non-current liabilities FrRzas (415,852) - (725,404) (121,242) (1,886,322)
Net assets BEFE 19,418,597 19,206,439 21,819,655 22548953 21,030,976
Earnings per share SREF
Basic (HK cents) EAR(EL) 0.22 0.22 0.52 0.67 0.91
Diluted (HK cents) BEGEI) 0.22 0.22 0.52 0.67 0.91
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Corporate Information

TEEHR

Executive Directors

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Chairman
Cheng Kwok Hung

Liu Hoi Wah

Ng Yuen Ying

Independent Non-executive Directors
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Wai Hing Cheung

Yeung Kin Hing

Company Secretary
Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona

Authorised Representatives
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Ng Yuen Ying

Audit Committee

Kam Hau Choi, Anthony Chairman
Wai Hing Cheung

Yeung Kin Hing

Auditor

OOP CPA & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
Unit A, 21/F, LL Tower

2-4 Shelley Street

Central, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
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Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit D, 1/F

Por Yen Building

478 Castle Peak Road

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shop 1712-1716, 17/F

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

Website Address

www. hkite.com

Stock Code
8092
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